Biological Conversion of Organic Municipal Solid Waste to Lactic Acid: A Techno-Economic Performance Assessment Study for Commercialization

by

Jieun Shin

MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY FEB 28 2018 LIBRARIES ARCHIVES

B.Eng., University of Tokyo (2012)

Submitted to the Institute for Data, Systems, and Society in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Technology and Policy

at the

MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

September 2017

© Massachusetts Institute of Technology 2017. All rights reserved.

Biological Conversion of Organic Municipal Solid Waste to

Lactic Acid:

A Techno-Economic Performance Assessment Study for

Commercialization

by

Jieun Shin

Submitted to the Institute for Data, Systems, and Society on August 11, 2017, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Technology and Policy

Abstract

This thesis assesses the economic viability and commercial potential of a lab-scale microbial technology to produce lactic acid (LA), which was developed as a novel technology option for organic waste treatment. Among various available technologies for the separation and purification of LA, the method of esterification-hydrolysis with reactive distillation was selected for this assessment. The process from organic waste to high-purity LA was designed and modeled using Aspen Plus, from which material and energy balances, equipment costs, and utility costs were derived. An economic performance assessment model was developed to estimate capital and operating expenses as well as net present value (NPV), for evaluating the economic feasibility under various scenarios. Monte Carlo techniques were incorporated into the model to take into account the effect of identified uncertainties on the economic performance, which generates distribution profiles rather than single-value estimates. The baseline NPV for polymer-grade LA (99%) production was estimated to be USD 1.95 million in the U.S. and USD 1.31 million in India. Even though the estimated capital and operating expenses are much lower in India, the process was found to be less profitable than in the U.S. The main reason for this is because landfill tipping fees cannot be relied on as a stable revenue source in India. Moreover, two other applications, which this technology could be potentially commercialized for, were also evaluated using the developed models, and the economic performance of each application was compared. Finally, this thesis proposes a Technology Commercialization Assessment Matrix (TCAM), based on the results and insights gained from the assessment conducted.

Thesis Supervisor: Gregory Stephanopoulos Title: W.H. Dow Professor, Chemical Engineering

Acknowledgments

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to the following people who have supported and encouraged me in the completion of this work. First, I would like to thank Professor Gregory Stephanopoulos and Dr. Devin Currie for their guidance and helpful feedback on my research project. In particular, Dr. Devin Currie has given me generous support, not only advising my thesis, but also assisting to create a comfortable environment for my graduate study. In addition, I want to thank the Tata Center for Technology and Design for the financial support as well as many enriching opportunities. The field interaction with stakeholders in India deepened my understanding of the motivation behind the project, and further broadened my perspective. Among other stakeholders, I would like to express special thanks to Mr. Aashish Dutt for providing insights gained from his experience/expertise and enriching our trips in India. Moreover, this work would not have been successfully completed without Prof. Nikolaos K. Kazantzis, Dr. Liang-Chig Ma, Dr. Bernardo Castro-Dominguez, and Mr. Masakazu Nagata, who gave generously of their time to share their skills/experiences for techno-economic assessment methodologies as well as technology commercialization processes. Finally, I wish to express my deepest appreciation to those who have given me irreplaceable emotional support throughout my time at MIT - my parents and brother for their everlasting love and their belief in me, my Kogyu for his constant love, support, and encouragement, and my friends - especially Masa and Apoorv - for spending their time with me.

Contents

1	Intr	roducti	ion	13
2	Bac	kgrou	nd	15
	2.1	Munic	ipal Solid Waste Management	15
		2.1.1	The United States	16
		2.1.2	India	17
	2.2	Techn	ology Options for MSW Treatment and Utilization	20
		2.2.1	Thermal Conversion	20
		2.2.2	Biochemical Conversion	21
	2.3	Lactic	Acid	23
		2.3.1	Applications of Lactic Acid	23
		2.3.2	Production Technologies	24
3	Pla	nt Des	ign and Simulation	27
	3.1	The V	Vaste-to-Lactic Acid Process	27
		3.1.1	Feedstock	28
		3.1.2	Anaerobic Digestion	30
		3.1.3	Crude Separation of Fermentation Broth	31
		3.1.4	Esterification-Hydrolysis with Reactive Distillation $\ldots \ldots$	33
		3.1.5	Methanol Recycling	34
	3.2	Simula	ation Results	34
4	Eco	nomic	Performance Assessment	37

4 Economic Performance Assessment

	4.1	Introduction	37
	4.2	Total Capital Investment and Total Product Cost Baseline Estimation	38
		4.2.1 Total Capital Investment (TCI)	38
		4.2.2 Total Product Cost (TPC)	42
	4.3	Revenue	46
	4.4	Profitability Analysis: Net Present Value	47
	4.5	Economic Performance Analysis under Uncertainty: Monte Carlo Sim-	
		ulation	48
5	Res	ults	53
	5.1	Introduction	53
	5.2	Capital and Operating Expenses for Production	53
	5.3	Profitability Analysis: NPV	57
		5.3.1 Baseline Results	57
		5.3.2 Operating Labor Costs	57
		5.3.3 Discount Rate	59
	5.4	Comparative Analysis of Economic Performance	61
		5.4.1 Technology Performance	63
		5.4.2 Targeted Applications of Final Product	64
		5.4.3 Technology Commercialization Assessment Matrix	69
6	Cor	cluding Remarks and Future Work	73
	6.1	Summary	73
	6.2	Future Work	75

List of Figures

2-1	MSW generation and recycling rates in the United States, 1960-2014.	
	Source: [16]	18
2-2	Management of food waste in the United States, 2014. Source: $\left[16 \right]$.	19
3-1	An overview of the process diagram	28
3-2	The process diagram from Aspen simulation	29
3-3	The reaction of lactic acid with calcium carbonate	31
3-4	The reaction of calcium lactate with sulfuric acid	32
3-5	Esterification of lactic acid with methanol	33
5-1	Capital investment distribution of a waste-to-LA plant based in the	
	United States	55
5 - 2	Capital investment distribution of a waste-to-LA plant based in India	55
5-3	Total product cost distributions of a waste-to-LA plant: the United	
	States and India	56
5-4	The baseline cumulative distributions of NPV: the United States and	
	India	58
5-5	NPV cumulative distributions under various number of unskilled op-	
	erators: the United States	60
5-6	NPV cumulative distributions under various number of unskilled op-	
	erators: India	60
5-7	NPV cumulative distributions under various discount rates	62
5-8	Estimated utility costs per hour under various LA concentrations	65
5-9	Estimated volumes of LA under various LA concentrations	65

5-10	Expected TCI, TPC, revenue, and NPV under various LA concentrations	66
5-11	Total utility costs required for the production of LA with different	
	targeted purities	67
5-12	A proposed process diagram for the production of animal feed	69

List of Tables

3.1	The solid and liquid contents in fermented broth	31
3.2	Concentrations of impurities contained in fermentation broth $[{\rm g}/{\rm L}]$.	32
3.3	Boiling points of all compounds involved in the distillation process $[C^{\circ}]$	33
3.4	Optimized process variables	35
3.5	Stream results table	36
4.1	Estimation of total capital investment	39
4.2	Estimation of equipment cost	41
4.3	Estimation of total product cost	43
4.4	Estimation of raw material costs	45
4.5	Unit cost of utilities and waste disposal	45
4.6	Estimation of total revenue	46
4.7	Assumptions in the NPV assessment	48
4.8	Uncertain cost model inputs and corresponding probability distribu-	
	tions: the United States	51
4.9	Uncertain cost model inputs and corresponding probability distribu-	
	tions: India	52
5.1	Comparative economic performance among three available applications	69
5.2	Technology Commercialization Assessment Matrix (TCAM)	72

Chapter 1

Introduction

The need to overcome the dual challenges that our current global society faces, resource depletion and waste accumulation, has led to the development of various waste treatment technologies. The utilization of waste as a feedstock to produce a highvalue chemical, such as lactic acid (LA), is one example of a technology-based solution to help reduce the cost of raw materials while reducing the environmental impact caused by current waste disposal practices. The laboratory of Professor Gregory Stephanopoulos (Department of Chemical Engineering) at MIT has developed a novel microbial technology based on anaerobic digestion of organic waste for LA production [63]. In order to scale-up and commercialize this lab-scale technology, a series of questions should be answered. These include: (1) What are the potential applications of LA and the required product specifications for these applications?; (2) How can these specifications be achieved, specifically the purity of LA? In particular, what is the most economical way to separate and purify the crude LA from the initial fermentation?; (3) How can the overall processes be designed to obtain a desired purity of LA?; (4) What are the costs associated with a LA production facility?; (5) How much does it cost to produce LA from organic waste?; and (6) What is the profitability of this production method?

This research examines the technical and economic feasibility of producing polymergrade LA (99% purity) from organic waste, by conducting a techno-economic assessment. To that end, this study first compared available technologies for the separation

and purification of LA to determine the most economically feasible method. Further, process design and simulations were conducted using Aspen Plus to determine material and energy balances, as well as equipment sizes and costs. Based on the results of the process modeling effort, the key economic costs, including the Fixed Capital Investment (FCI), Total Capital Investment (TCI), and Total Product Cost (TPC) were estimated under various economic scenarios. Additionally, a detailed comprehensive Net Present Value (NPV) model was also developed to evaluate the economic profitability. In the estimation of both the economic costs and the NPV, various sources of market and regulatory uncertainty were identified and their effect on the economic performance has been taken into consideration using Monte Carlo simulations. Using the developed models, sensitivity and comparative analyses were conducted to investigate how various scenarios affect the economic performance. Lastly, based on the results and insights gained from the assessment, a Technology Commercialization Assessment Matrix (TCAM) is proposed, which should serve as a guideline for conducting further economic assessments or developing investment strategies for technology commercialization.

The remainder of this thesis is broken out as follows. Chapter 2 provides the background on municipal solid waste (MSW) management in the United States and India, as well as the current state of LA applications and production methods. Chapter 3 describes the process design of the waste-to-LA plant and the details of the model. Chapter 4 describes the economic model and the assumptions used for evaluating the economic costs and profitability of the plant. Chapter 5 presents the results of the economic performance assessment and the sensitivity/comparative analyses, and further discusses investment strategies to scale-up and commercialize this microbial technology in India. Chapter 6 summarizes this thesis work, major findings, and makes suggestions for future work.

Chapter 2

Background

2.1 Municipal Solid Waste Management

Municipal Solid Waste (MSW) is a type of waste generated from residential and commercial sources, which consists of everyday items such as food scraps, garden waste, paper, textiles, product packaging, and bottles. Although the composition of MSW varies from region to region, organic waste accounts for a large share of MSW both in developed and developing countries. Uncontrolled decomposition of organic MSW poses risks to both the environment and public health through the contamination of soil, water, and air. As a result, effective and proper management of the organic fraction of MSW is a global issue of great importance.

When one metric ton of organic waste decomposes in landfills, which continues to be the primary means of waste disposal, 50-110 m^3 of carbon dioxide and 90-140 m^3 of methane can be potentially emitted, contributing to global warming [44]. According to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), methane (CH₄) is estimated to have a Global Warming Potential (GWP) 25 times higher than carbon dioxide (CO₂) for a 100-year time scale [51]. Moreover, the leachate (the liquid that percolates through the layers of waste, absorbing toxic chemicals) contaminates ground water at landfill sites, which can in turn impact local water supplies [15].

Governments and municipalities are beginning to recognize the importance of reducing the quantity of organic waste sent to landfills. Consequently, various programs have been adopted, including those to address the source of waste and to handle the waste that has already been generated. On the front-end, reductions in the total tonnage entering into a given municipal waste system can be achieved by promoting changes in purchasing habits, package design, industrial practices, as well as promoting home composting and reuse [16]. Secondly, the waste that has already been generated can be converted into useful products, such as reusable materials, compost, and energy, for waste diversion. The overall effect is, when properly implemented, a radical reduction in landfilling.

During the last century, developed countries have established appropriate standards as well as devoted adequate administrative and financial resources to manage MSW in an economical and environmentally sound manner [52]. In addition, innovative technologies have received increasing attention to recover materials and create economic value from MSW, which would otherwise be landfilled. On the other hand, in developing countries, MSW management has become a fundamental socio-economic problem, as these nations lack the capacity to effectively handle the increasing volume of MSW, due to insufficient capital, knowledge, and infrastructure. As the solid waste problem is not merely a domestic issue, knowledge and technology transfer from developed countries to developing countries is crucial in order to accelerate global sustainable development.

2.1.1 The United States

According to an EPA report, the total quantity of MSW generated in the U.S. was 258 million tons per year as of 2014. Of this waste, only 34.6% of the waste generated was recycled or composted [16]. While the total amount of MSW generated has almost tripled since 1960, the recycling and composting rate has also considerably increased in the U.S. from 6.4% in 1960 to 34.6% in 2014, with a significant improvement especially during 1985-1995 (see Figure 2-1). This change was the result of increasingly stringent standards for MSW management facilities under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) of 1976, which is the principal legislation that governs the management of hazardous and non-hazardous solid waste in the United State [41]. The RCRA Subtitle D provides specific guidelines for the proper management of MSW, mandating the closure of open dump sites across the country as well as setting minimum requirements for the operation of landfills. Further, states and municipalities play an important role in executing the federal guidelines and further establishing stricter rules.

Despite these continuous federal and regional efforts, more than half of the total MSW generated still goes to landfills [16]. Among various materials included in MSW, 14.9% of the total quantity of MSW was food waste, which is the main contributor of greenhouse gas emissions from landfills. Further, it was reported that 76% of food waste was landfilled, while 19% was converted into energy through incineration and only 5% was recycled and composted as of 2014 (see Figure 2-2). Therefore, new financially compelling technologies/systems still need to be developed and implemented to maximize the quantity of food waste diverted from landfills. Among the currently available technology options described in Section 2.2, anaerobic digestion (AD) is considered to be the most environmentally-friendly practice to treat and create value from food waste. In the U.S., over 2,200 major biogas production facilities are in operation; nevertheless, most of them are a part of wastewater treatment plants, rather than standalone anaerobic digesters [38]. Despite a large biogas potential in terms of feedstock supply, the U.S. has been slower to implement this technology compared to Europe, where nearly 17,000 biogas plants produce energy equivalent to 14.9 Mtoe in total [38, 46]. According to the US Department of Energy, there are over 13,000 potential sites that could implement a biogas production system in the U.S., which could provide over 40 TWh of electricity [48].

2.1.2 India

In India, the annual quantity of MSW generated has significantly increased over the past 50 years, a trend which is expected to continue due to urbanization, population growth, and industrialization. According to a Planning Commission report, it was estimated that people in urban areas generate approximately 62 million tons of MSW every year, based on census data from 2011 [12]. Further, it is projected that the



Figure 2-1: MSW generation and recycling rates in the United States, 1960-2014. Source: [16]

quantity of MSW in urban centers will reach 165 million tons by 2031, and increase sevenfold (436 million tons) by 2050 [12]. In contrast to developed countries, Indian Federal or State regulations have not caught up with this rapidly intensifying problem. Given that the management of MSW is not effectively executed, India set up specific guidelines for MSW management through Municipal Solid Waste (Management and Handling) Rules, 2000 (MSWR). These guidelines were then updated in 2016 by the enactment of the new Solid Waste Management Rules (SWM), 2016; nevertheless, many municipalities have not effectively implemented these practices and are not in compliance with them [37]. As a result, only 70% of the total waste generated is collected in Indian cities and states, due to the lack of systematic storage space at the source and low awareness among the waste generators [20, 37, 62]. Further, out of the total MSW collected, about 93-94% is disposed of through uncontrolled landfilling or open dumping without appropriate precautions to avoid environmental contamination, with the remainder being converted to compost [20, 30]. Consequently, most Indian cities have faced environmental degradation as well as unhygienic conditions



Figure 2-2: Management of food waste in the United States, 2014. Source: [16]

at the disposal sites.

Waste-to-energy systems, such as incineration and biomethanation, have been introduced as a value-added mechanism for waste disposal in India, but adoption has remained low [20]. In contrast to developed countries, the economic viability and sustainability of the waste-to-energy systems are still being examined in India, as the country faces unique challenges in adopting these technologies. The hurdles include a lack of financial resources, insufficient technical expertise, and a dearth of the required machinery [37, 60]. Among various waste-to-energy technologies, anaerobic digestion has shown great potential in India, both in regard to its use as a waste treatment option and as a renewable energy source. A major reason for this observation is the larger proportion of biodegradable matter in Indian MSW, which accounts for 40%-60% of available MSW [20, 37].

2.2 Technology Options for MSW Treatment and Utilization

Various types of waste conversion technologies are available and need to be chosen/combined according to different feedstock, desired form of final products, economic conditions, and environmental standards [12, 32]. The integration of these technologies in society is essential for sustainable waste management as well as profitable waste utilization. As described below in more detail, the waste conversion processes can be categorized into mainly two groups: thermal conversions and biochemical conversions [69]. Most of the currently available technologies in both categories are designed to recover energy from waste in the form of electricity, heat and fuel, which are grouped under waste-to-energy (WtE) technologies [12].

2.2.1 Thermal Conversion

Thermal conversion processes of MSW can be divided into three main categories: incineration, pyrolysis, and gasification. Thermal processing is the only solution that can handle unsegregated (mixed) waste streams; nevertheless, it can be challenging to avoid unfavorable environmental impacts as well as high startup costs.

Incineration

Incineration is the combustion of solid waste in a controlled manner at 850 $^{\circ}C$ in the presence of sufficient air to oxidize feedstock. This exothermic process generates heat, which can be utilized in the form of steam or electricity. Incineration has been the primary alternative to landfills primarily due to its ability to reduce waste mass by 70% and volume by 90% [61]. However, air pollutants such as SO_x , CO_x , and NO_x are emitted during the process, which contribute to air pollution and pose significant health hazards. Thus, when constructing an incinerator, pollutant-capturing devices have to be installed to reduce these problems. Further, low moisture content and high heating value of solid waste are desirable to achieve high level of efficiency. This

is the reason why incineration is not popular in developing countries such as India where a large amount of organic waste is generated, which has a high moisture content $(\sim 20\%)$ and fairly low heating value [66].

Pyrolysis and Gasification

Both pyrolysis and gasification generate energy by combusting solid waste under oxygen deficient conditions. Pyrolysis uses thermal energy to degrade organic matter at a temperature range of 400-1000 °C in an oxygen-free environment [69]. On the other hand, gasification is the partial combustion of organic materials at higher temperatures than pyrolysis (1000-1400°C) in a limited amount of oxygen. The end product of these two endothermic processes is syngas, which is a mixture of CH_4 , CO and H_2 , with lesser amount of CO_2 , N_2 and hydrocarbons(HCs). Syngas can be used for heat and power production, by means of internal combustion engines or turbines [62]. According a life cycle assessment conducted by Zaman, pyrolysis-gasification is the most environmentally-friendly technology among thermal conversion processes in terms of global warming, acidification, etc., due to its high efficiency of energy recovery [69]. However, the main limitation of pyrolysis-gasification is that the process is complex and requires higher capital and operation costs than incineration.

2.2.2 Biochemical Conversion

Biochemical conversion processes are considered to be much more eco-friendly than the thermal treatment options discussed above [32, 61]. This category consists of mainly two techniques: anaerobic digestion (i.e. biomethanation) and composting, both of which involve the degradation of organic materials into valuable products catalyzed by microorganisms. As opposed to incineration, high percentages of organic matter and moisture are preferred for the biochemical conversion processes to boost microbial activity.

Anaerobic Digestion

In anaerobic digestion (AD), the organic fraction of MSW is fed to an anaerobic digester where microorganisms break down organic matter in the absence of oxygen. This process produces biogas (primarily CH_4 and CO_2) as the main product, which can be used either as a heat source or for electrical generation. Additionally, the material that remains after organic materials are completely digested (called digestate) also has a use as a soil conditioner which helps maintain moisture and organic content in soils. Simultaneously, it replenishes various minerals which are depleted during the harvesting of crops. With this concept in common, there are a variety of engineered bioreactors to treat organic waste, which can be classified by different factors such as operating temperature, solids content in the reactor, one or multiple phases, and method of mixing and agitation [39]. This waste treatment option is increasingly gaining popularity globally, as it can address environmental problems caused by MSW and simultaneously produce biogas, which is a carbon neutral and comparatively clean energy source relative to fossil fuels. Further, the fact that AD requires a low energy input and can be accommodated in smaller reactors adds to its advantages. However, a disadvantage of this process is that it requires longer startup and retention time (>3 weeks) to obtain stabilized products, compared to other biological processes [2].

Composting

Composting is an aerobic biological process during which decomposition of organic waste takes place by microbial activity under controlled conditions, including temperature, humidity and pH [62]. This converts organic waste to stable granular material (i.e. compost) - which can be used as an organic fertilizer and soil conditioner [55]. Composting is widely used both in large scale and at decentralized level as one of the most cost effective options for MSW management; nevertheless, it has several limitations. First, a great deal of energy is released into the atmosphere during aerobic composting, which results in heat loss to the surrounding environment. Further, the quality of compost generated from MSW can vary depending on a number of factors, including the characteristics of organic waste and composting procedures employed. It should be noted that compost is different than chemical fertilizer which is enriched in terms of nutrient value, although both play important roles in agriculture. Lastly, this treatment requires careful separation of MSW prior to composting, as toxic materials such as heavy metals might be introduced into human food chain [32].

2.3 Lactic Acid

Lactic acid (2-hydroxypropanoic acid) with two enantiomeric forms (L-(+)-lactic acid and D-(-)-lactic acid) is a platform chemical from which a wide range of useful products are derived. Due to various potential applications, the global demand for LA has been estimated to increase from USD 1,130.4 million in 2014 to USD 3,381.8 million in 2023, growing at a a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 13.0% [56].

2.3.1 Applications of Lactic Acid

Lactic acid (LA) has been widely used in food, pharmaceutical and cosmetic applications, since its discovery in 1780 by the Swedish chemist Scheele. Traditionally, the food industry has been the major consumer of LA, demanding approximately 70% of its global production capacity [9]. Its mild acidic taste as well as nonvolatile and odorless properties allow LA to be used as an acidulant, preservative, flavoring, and pH buffering agent in processed foods. The primary application of LA in foods is to produce esters of lactate salts with longer chain fatty acids, which are used as emulsifiers to improve the consistency and texture of foods [14]. Moreover, due to the moisturizing, antimicrobial and rejuvenating effects of LA, it has been one of the popular ingredients used in the formulation of cosmetics and personal care products. Numerous pharmaceutical processes also use LA and its salts, mainly as a pH-regulator, chiral intermediate, and for metal sequestration [3, 53].

Nevertheless, the significant recent growth of the LA market has mainly come from the development and commercialization of LA-derived biopolymers - primarily polylactic acid (PLA). Owing to the presence of two functional groups, one hydroxyl and one carboxyl groups, LA undergoes versatile chemical reactions such as condensation and esterification, through which a variety of useful industrial products are obtained. Such products include biodegradable polymers for plastics and fibers, 'green' solvents for formulations and cleaning, and oxygenated industrial chemicals [14]. In particular, PLA, a biodegradable thermoplastic derived from 100% renewable resources, has received great attention as a potential substitute for petroleum-based plastics. This is in response to increasing demands for environmentally-friendly products, as well as the increasing scarcity and price volatility of fossil sources.

2.3.2 Production Technologies

LA is commercially produced either by chemical synthesis from fossil resources, or by microbial fermentation of carbohydrates. While the former route results in a racemic mixture of LA, the latter method can generate a desired enantiomer, optically pure L-(+)- or D-(-)-lactic acid [7, 68]. Additionally, LA production through fermentation has been shown to be more eco-friendly, due to low energy consumption as well as the ability to utilize relatively cheap renewable feedstock such as agricultural and agro-industrial based raw materials [19]. As a result, almost all of the present LA manufacturers use the fermentative production route. The major LA producers include NatureWorks LLC (USA), Purac (The Netherlands), Galactic (Belgium), as well as several Chinese companies [1].

In LA fermentation, the cost of conventional feedstocks - pure sugars and food crops - accounts for a significant proportion of the LA production costs, which has motivated the search for low-cost raw materials as well as technology development for productivity enhancement. For more economically competitive processes, the use of non-food carbohydrates (e.g. cellulose and hemicellulose from lignocellulosic biomass) have been investigated as a replacement for traditional feedstocks, which has been partially successful [9]. Further, in recent years, genetic-engineering approaches have been harnessed to explore various combinations of metabolic pathways by microorganisms, which could lead to not only higher LA yield and productivity, but also broader substrate range and enhanced optical purity [1].

Separation and Purification Options for Lactic Acid

It is a well know fact that the separation and purification of LA from fermentation broth is a difficult and expensive process, which typically accounts for 50-70% of total production costs. This downstream process is crucial to achieve a targeted purity, by removing a number of impurities contained in fermentation broth. In particular, the highest purity level (99%) is required for the production of polymer-grade LA, which is the starting material for PLA synthesis. As the non-volatile nature of LA does not allow the application of conventional purification methods such as distillation, various technologies have been developed to recover LA in a more economical and efficient manner [36]. The main purification methods include esterification-hydrolysis with reactive distillation ([35, 36, 64]), reactive extraction ([22, 31, 67]), electrodialysis ([21, 34, 40]), and ion-exchange methods ([11, 19]). According to a comparative assessment conducted by Joglekar et al. [29], the most economical and practical option is esterification-hydrolysis with reactive distillation, which was selected for the scope of this project. As described in more detail in Chapter 3, this method first converts LA to the relatively volatile ester by the reaction with alcohol, which is followed by hydrolysis of the separated ester back to LA.

Chapter 3

Plant Design and Simulation

The potential waste-to-LA process for producing polymer grade LA can be roughly divided into three stages: fermentation, crude separation, and purification. Figure 3-1 shows an overview of the process from the feedstock to the final product of 99% LA, which was designed based on the process information provided in a number of studies [4, 5, 29]. Among the purification options for LA presented in the previous chapter, esterification-hydrolysis with reactive distillation was chosen as our model purification process, as it was considered to be the most economical and mature technology. The distillation process was designed and modeled using Aspen Plus (see Figure 3-2) with the goal of determining material and energy balances while estimating equipment and utility costs (a requirement for our ensuing economic analysis).

3.1 The Waste-to-Lactic Acid Process

The proposed waste-to-LA process, using the novel technology developed at MIT, ultimately aims to biologically convert organic waste into polymer-grade LA (~99 wt.% purity). This purity level is essential for the production of high quality PLA. First, preprocessed organic waste is fermented in an anaerobic digester over a certain period of time (frequently 5 days), which generates calcium lactate. As described in more detail below, LA is actively neutralized with a calcium base during fermentation. Calcium lactate is then reacted with sulfuric acid to yield crude LA and gypsum,



Figure 3-1: An overview of the process diagram

which is separated from the fermentation broth. Finally, after a large fraction of water has been removed using an evaporator, the crude LA goes through a series of reactive distillation columns and separators to eliminate impurities and raise LA purity up to $\sim 99\%$.

3.1.1 Feedstock

The most ideal feedstock for the process is food waste, that is organic waste with high concentrations of sugar, starch, and protein. Although other organic waste such as agricultural waste can also be used, the solid retention time in the anaerobic digester is most likely to increase, resulting in reduced LA production from the feedstock



Ĩ



on a g/g/day scale. Lab-scale experiments conducted at MIT used a wide range of food waste collected on campus, including vegetables, fruit, bread, and meat, as well as their mixtures. For the baseline simulation, the total solids (TS) content of the feedstock was assumed to be 20 vol%, and the density of the solids was assumed to be 1 g/cm^3 , based on experimental results. The feedstock is diluted with the same amount of distilled water to a TS content of 10 vol%, which is necessary for better initial mechanical disruption, mixing, heat transfer, as well as for improved metabolism [65]. However, if anaerobic digestion is operated under dry conditions, i.e. less water content, it possibly scales down reactor size and reduces energy consumption for separation systems [45]. This trade-off was examined by looking at the impact of the feedstock's TS content not only on the estimated utility cost but also on total capital and operating expenses, as demonstrated in Section 5.4.

3.1.2 Anaerobic Digestion

The diluted feedstock, after light homogenization with a grinding unit, is pumped into a fermentation reactor and allowed to ferment for ~ 5 days at a pH below 6.5 to avoid methanogenesis (the typical output of a bioreactor employing AD). In contrast to traditional bioreactors which often depend on a single organism, those developed for the fermentation of organic waste rely on a consortium of microbes, which is less likely to be affected by invading microbes with its ability to promptly adjust to changing environmental conditions [63]. Therefore, the fermentation method used for this waste-to-LA process does not require biological, chemical, or thermal sterilization, which is needed for other bioreactors to prevent the contamination of microbes. This reduces equipment and operation costs, as sterilization processes typically involve specialized equipment, skilled engineers, and stringent operating standards. Further, it has an additional advantage of preventing potential yield loss which may be caused by the contamination of microbes.

As mentioned above, a base such as calcium carbonate $(CaCO_3)$ must be added to the fermentation broth, to alleviate pH inhibition. The production of LA lowers the level of pH in the reactor, which needs to be maintained to maximize growth rate [27]. Either strong acidic or alkaline environment can impede the metabolism of organisms and disrupt various aspects of their physiology. By adding $CaCO_3$, LA is converted into calcium lactate ($CaLA_2$) according to the reaction shown in Figure 3-3, allowing the bioreactor to be held at a constant pH under the assumption of active monitoring and base addition. As $CaCO_3$ becomes more soluble with lower pH, the reaction does not start until the pH level falls below a certain level and a sufficient amount of $CaCO_3$ is dissolved. The complete anaerobic digestion leaves fermented sludge containing $CaLA_2$ and other impurities as the end product, after approximately five days.

$$CaCO_{3} + 2 \xrightarrow[OH]{} OH \rightarrow OH \rightarrow OH + CO_{2} + H_{2}O$$

Figure 3-3: The reaction of lactic acid with calcium carbonate

3.1.3 Crude Separation of Fermentation Broth

The sludge obtained from the fermentation reactor needs to undergo a couple of separation steps, prior to esterification-hydrolysis with reactive distillation. First, the solids must be removed from the sludge; this will be most likely achieved with a filter press. Based on the experimental results shown in Table 3.1, the volume of remaining liquid was estimated to be 85,713 L per day, when 50 tons of organic waste are processed with 50 tons of water.

Table 3.1: The solid and liquid contents in fermented broth

Tube No.	Solid Mass / Broth Mass [mg/mg]	Liquid Volume / Broth Mass [µl/mg]
1	0.528	0.847
2	0.529	0.835
3	0.527	0.890
Average	0.528	0.857

In the following reactor, as in Figure 3-4, this liquid is acidified with sulfuric

acid (H_2SO_4) , which converts $CaLA_2$ back into LA and simultaneously generates a white solid precipitate $(CaSO_4)$. Subsequently, $CaSO_4$ is separated out using a centrifuge, or potentially another filter press. This inorganic compound, commonly called gypsum, has a number of applications such as an additive of cement and plaster as well as a soil conditioner. However, no revenue from gypsum was assumed for this economic analysis due to the uncertain and unmeasured quality of the product. In the worst case, this material can be mixed with the compost stream composed of undigested solids that are separated out in the initial filter pressing.

Figure 3-4: The reaction of calcium lactate with sulfuric acid

The resulting liquid contains water, LA, and other impurities including acetic acid, butyric acid, glucose, galactose, and pyruvic acid, as identified by experiments (DH Currie, personal communication). A large fraction of water is removed by an evaporator, prior to the purification process. Table 3.2 shows the concentrations of LA and impurities in a fermentation broth generated in an actual experiment. Among a number of fermentation broths tested, the most reasonable dataset was carefully selected not to overestimate the LA production. In calculating the mass balance, the assumptions were made that the solids would be completely separated by the filter press and centrifuge, and the conversion rate of CaLA₂ to LA would be 100%. Further, to simplify this simulation model, galactose and pyruvic acid were not taken into account as impurities, as their concentrations are much lower than acetic acid, butyric acid, and glucose.

Table 3.2: Concentrations of impurities contained in fermentation broth [g/L]

Lactic Acid	Acetic Acid	Butyric Acid	Glucose	Galactose	Pyruvic Acid
44.0	4.7	6.3	0.6	0.0488	0.134

3.1.4 Esterification-Hydrolysis with Reactive Distillation

As discussed in the previous section, esterification-hydrolysis with reactive distillation was used as a purification method for this assessment, since it is the most established and economical method identified [29]. Following the evaporator, the remaining liquid stream is transferred to the first reactive distillation column, where LA is esterified with methanol to produce methyl lactate (see the reaction equation in Figure 3-5). As

$$\begin{array}{c} 0 \\ \downarrow \\ 0H \end{array} + CH_3OH \end{array} \rightleftharpoons \begin{array}{c} 0 \\ \downarrow \\ 0H \end{array} + H_2O$$

Figure 3-5: Esterification of lactic acid with methanol

LA is practically non-volatile, this conversion is necessary to make the distillation and separation of impurities feasible. This esterifiaction reaction is equilibrium limited; nevertheless, a near 100% conversion can be achieved by simultaneously removing methyl lactate and water from the column. Similarly, both acetic acid and butyric acid are also esterified with methanol, generating methyl acetate and methyl butyrate. Along with these reactions, the first distillation column continuously removes the volatile components which have lower boiling points than methyl lactate from the top. Table 3.3 shows the boiling points of all potential components that exist during the process, in a descending order. The boiling points of glucose and LA are not presented in the table, because they decompose before evaporation can take place under atmospheric pressure.

Table 3.3: Boiling points of all compounds involved in the distillation process $[C^{\circ}]$

Glucose	Lactic Acid	Butyric Acid	Methyl Lactate	Acetic Acid	Methyl Butyrate	Water	Methanol	Methyl Acetate
-		163.3	144.8	117.9	102.5	100	64.7	57.1

This reactive distillation column is followed by a simple separation column to re-

move glucose and other potential non-volatile acids, including unreacted butyric acid and LA. The outlet stream from the top of the column is sent to the second reactive distillation column, where methyl lactate is returned to LA through hydrolysis (the right-to-left reaction in the equation shown in Figure 3-5). At the same time, methanol and water are separated from the top, while 99% purity of LA is produced at the bottom of the column.

3.1.5 Methanol Recycling

Methanol, the key reactant in the esterification reaction and the by-product of the hydrolysis reaction, is recycled back to the first reactive distillation column. As methanol exiting the second reactive distillation column is diluted with water, another separation column is required to enhance the concentration of methanol before being recycled. Ideally, there would be no loss of methanol under the assumptions that the complete conversions take place for the two reactions and methanol is perfectly separated in distillation columns. However, in the process simulation conducted for this thesis, approximately 40% of methanol is lost when methanol is vaporized along with volatile products in the first reactive distillation column, while 16% of methanol disappears when methanol is removed along with water in the last separation column.

3.2 Simulation Results

The purification process from the evaporator to the methanol separator has been simulated using Aspen Plus, and process variables have been optimized to achieve a high LA purity of 99.9%. The process variables shown in Table 3-4 were varied to obtain the specified design specifications of each major piece of equipment - the reactive distillation column for esterification (RD:ESTER), the methyl lactate separator (GLU:SEP), and the reactive distillation column for hydrolysis (RD:HYDR).

For instance, sensitivity analyses were carried out for RD:ESTER by varying the number of stages, the distillate to feed ratio, and the reflux ratio, which were to determine the optimum values for limiting the mass fraction of methyl butyrate at

No.	Equipment	Process variables	Design specifications	Optimized process variable value
1	Reactive distillation column	No. of stages	Mass fraction of methyl	10
2	for esterification	Distillate to feed	butyrate in MELA+ (Target: 0.001)	0.89
3	(RD:ESTER)	Reflux ratio		0.7
4		No. of stages	Mole recovery of methyl	15
5	Methyl lactate separator	Distillate to feed	lactate from MELA+ to	0.99
6	(OLU.SEI)	Reflux ratio	MELA++ (Target: 0.99)	1
7		No. of stages	Mass purity/Mass flow of	10
8	Reactive distillation column for hydrolysis (RD:HVDR)	Distillate to feed	lactic acid in LA99+	0.93
9		Reflux ratio	(Target: 0.999/maximum)	0.95

Table 3.4: Optimized process variables

the bottom stream of RD:ESTER to 0.001. As also pointed out by Bapat et al. in [4], the distillate to feed ratio had the most significant effect, while the two other variables did not produce a remarkable change in the mass fraction of methyl butyrate. Thus, the design specification function in Aspen Plus was used only for the distillate to feed ratio, in order to change the variable in a much smaller scale and determine the best possible value that can achieve the specific mass fraction. Similarly, the process variables of GLU:SEP were optimized to minimize the loss of methyl lactate from this separator. Lastly, for RD:HYDR, both the distillate to feed ratio and reflux ratio were varied using the design specification function, to obtain the maximum possible mass purity and mass flow of LA in the product stream (LA99+). The simulation results with these optimized process parameters are summarized in Table 3.5, which lists important stream results. Note that the equipment and stream names used are specified in the process flow diagram (Figure 3-2).

Parameter/stream	FEED	METHFEED	LA-HEAT	MELA+	MELA++	METHANOL	LA99+
Temperature (C ^o)	25.0	25.0	101.0	107.5	119.6	74.9	213.9
Pressure (atm)	- 1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Mass flow (kg/hr)	3623.7	60.7	1066.1	259.0	250.1	42.1	144.1
		M	ass fraction (M	lass purity)			
Lactic acid	0.043		0.145	0.018			0.999
Acetic acid	0.005		0.006				
Butyric acid	0.006		0.005	0.001			
Glucose	0.001		0.002	0.008			
Water	0.945	0.004	0.841	0.301	0.312	0.156	0.001
Methanol		0.996				0.844	
Methyl Lactate				0.670	0.687		
Methyl Acetate						ï	
Methyl Butyrate				0.001	0.001		

.

Table 3.5: Stream results table
Chapter 4

Economic Performance Assessment

4.1 Introduction

The ultimate objective of this thesis is to assess whether the waste-to-LA technology is technically and economically feasible to be implemented at a commercial scale. Once a process to manufacture polymer-grade LA is designed, cost estimation and profitability analysis need to be conducted before making an investment decision. In terms of the potential geographic location for implementing this technology, two different scenarios were examined: the U.S. and India. With reference to the standard engineering economic analysis procedures described in [54], the economic performance assessment was conducted as follows:

- Develop baseline models to estimate Fixed Capital Investment (FCI), Total Capital Investment (TCI), and Total Product Cost (TPC) for a 50 tons/day capacity plant designed in Chapter 3.
- 2. Evaluate the economic profitability of this plant by developing a baseline model for Net Present Value (NPV), based on estimated TCI, TPC, and revenue.
- 3. Identify various sources of irreducible uncertainty in the baseline models for TCI, TPC, and NPV. Subsequently, conduct a Monte Carlo simulation to take into account the effect of irreducible uncertainties on the plant's economic performance.

4. Conduct comparative/sensitivity analyses to investigate how the capital and operating costs - as well as the overall profitability - are affected by various factors, such as the number of operators, the concentration of LA, and the required purity grade.

4.2 Total Capital Investment and Total Product Cost Baseline Estimation

The scale-up and implementation of a chemical process requires a large sum of money, before the plant can actually be put into operation. TCI is the amount of capital initially needed prior to operation commencement, for various expenses such as purchasing and installing the necessary machinery and equipment, as well as obtaining land and service facilities, etc. In addition to capital investment, the estimation of annual costs incurred to operate a plant and sell products, i.e. TPC, is an essential part of the economic analysis. In contrast to TCI which occurs only in the beginning of a project, TPC is a recurring cost as long as the plant is in operation, and thus it has the power to alter cash flow and profitability of a project significantly. Following the conventional practice of engineering economic assessment described in [54], baseline models for TCI and TPC estimation were developed. A list of all cost components of TCI and TPC (model inputs) can be found in Table 4.1 and Table 4.3, which also present the baseline estimates corresponding to the expected values of all the uncertainty sources. The estimates shown in these tables are based on the U.S. data.

4.2.1 Total Capital Investment (TCI)

The TCI of a plant is defined as Equation 4.1, the sum of the fixed capital investment (FCI) and the working capital (WC).

$$TCI = FCI + WC \tag{4.1}$$

Cost Component		Cost [US\$]
I. Direct Costs		
A. Equipment + installation + instrumentation + piping + electrical + insulation + painting		
1. Purchased equipment		441,857
2. Purchased-equipment Installation	= 40% of A1. Equipment cost	176,743
3. Instrumentation and controls, installed	= 29% of A1. Equipment cost	128,138
4. Piping, installed	= 45% of A1. Equipment cost	198,836
5. Electrical, installed	= 25% of A1. Equipment cost	110,464
Equipment total		1,056,038
B. Buildings, process and auxiliary	= 40% of A1. Equipment cost	176,743
C. Service facilities and yard improvements	= 70% of A1. Equipment cost	309,300
D. Land	= 6% of A1. Equipment cost	26,511
Sub-total		1,568,592
II. Indirect Costs		
A. Engineering and supervision	= 17.5% of I. Direct costs	274,504
B. Legal expenses	= 2% of III. Fixed-capital investment	50,496
C. Construction expense and contractor's fee	= 15% of III. Fixed-capital investment	378,718
D. Contingency	= 10% of III. Fixed-capital investment	252,479
Sub-total		956,196
III. Fixed-capital investment	= Direct costs + Indirect costs	2,524,788
IV. Working capital	= 15% of III. Total capital investment	445,551
V. Total capital investment (= 111 + 1V)		2,970,339

Table 4.1: Estimation of total capital investment

The FCI is the capital required to purchase and install the necessary tangible assets and provide the manufacturing and plant facilities needed for complete process operation. In addition, the WC represents the extra cash that the project needs to prepare to initiate and run the operation over a month, as the operation requires day-to-day expenses such as raw materials. Typically, it can be estimated to be about 15% of the TCI [54].

The FCI can be calculated by summing up all direct and indirect costs. As shown in Table 4.1, the most essential component of the direct costs is the equipment cost, which is used as a base in estimating all the other costs that are associated with purchasing the physical assets required to construct a plant. Equipment sizing and cost estimation were conducted based on the process simulation results as well as other references, as explained below. Besides the direct costs, the indirect costs also account for a significant proportion of the FCI, which include expenses for engineering and supervision, legal advice, contractors, and contingency.

Equipment Cost

The estimated costs of each piece of equipment and the methods used to derive these costs are shown in Table 4.2. Aspen Process Economic Analyzer was used to cost out all the equipment included in the Aspen process simulation, from the evaporator to the separation column for methanol recycling. The cost of the grinder was estimated using the following purchase cost equation for hammer mills, where W is the feed rate [ton/hr] [59]:

$$C_p = 3000W^{0.78} \tag{4.2}$$

Among different types of particle size reduction equipment, the equation for hammer mills was chosen because the range of feed rate was adequate for our processing needs, which is 100 tons/day, i.e. 4.17 tons/hr. Lastly, vendor quotations were used to estimate the costs of the remaining equipment, from the pump to the centrifuge. For the India case, the total equipment cost was adjusted using an investment site factor of 0.85 in order to take into account the difference in prices between the U.S.

	Equipment	Symbol	Cost [US\$]	Source
1	Grinder	-	9,132	Equation
2	Pump	-	1,725	Vendor
3	Anaerobic Digester	-	25,000	Vendor
4	Filter Press	-	15,000	Vendor
5	Staging Tank	-	25,000	Vendor
6	Acidification Reactor	-	25,000	Vendor
7	Centrifuge	-	5,500	Vendor
8	Evaporator	EVAPOR	15,200	Aspen Process Economic Analyzer
9	Heat Exchanger	HEAT2	7,700	Aspen Process Economic Analyzer
10	Cooler	COOLER	10,800	Aspen Process Economic Analyzer
11	Reactive Distillation Column : Esterification	RD:ESTER	104,600	Aspen Process Economic Analyzer
12	Separation Column : Non-volatile împurities	GLU-SEP	59,400	Aspen Process Economic Analyzer
13	Reactive Distillation Column : Hydrolysis	RD:HYDR	106,800	Aspen Process Economic Analyzer
14	Separation Column : Methanol recycle	METH:REC	31,000	Aspen Process Economic Analyzer
	Total Equipment Cost	· · ·	441,857	

Table 4.2: Estimation of equipment cost

and India [59].

4.2.2 Total Product Cost (TPC)

The TPC occurs annually and, in general, categorized into manufacturing costs and general expenses [54]. The former is further divided into fixed and variable operation and maintenance (O&M) costs. Fixed O&M costs are constant expenses and do not vary depending on production levels, while variable O&M costs change in proportion to the volume of production. Each of them is explained in more details in the following section.

Fixed O&M Costs

The components of fixed O&M costs include operating labor, direct supervisory and clerical labor, maintenance and repair, and insurance costs. For example, even if a project leader decides to cut down the production level of LA, salaries for plant operators and insurance still need to be paid and cannot be reduced. Based on heuristics [54], each cost component can be estimated as a certain percentage of the FCI. The costs of maintenance and repairs are roughly 4% of the FCI, while insurance accounts for 0.7% of the FCI.

Operators and staff are crucial to run the plant, and their annual wages account for a large fraction of the TPC. As with other cost components, the operating labor costs can be also estimated as a percentage of the FCI; nevertheless, available data and interviews with industry and local experts were used instead, for more accurate estimation and to take into account the difference between two geographical locations: the U.S. and India. The operation of this plant requires two types of personnel: 1) unskilled staff who segregate food waste to keep the high quality of feedstock, and 2) engineers who have a modest technical background to lead operation, maintenance and troubleshooting.

The number of unskilled staff members depends highly on the quality of food waste being supplied (more or less contaminated with non-food waste) as well as how

Cost Component			Cost [US\$]
I. Manufacturing costs			
A. Operating costs			
1. Fixed operation and mai	ntenance (O&M) costs		
a. Operating labor cost			663,000
b. Direct supervisory and	clerical labor cost	= 15% of Operating labor cost	99,450
c. Maintenance and repai	rs	= 4% of Fixed capital investment	100,992
d. Insurance		= 0.7% of Fixed capital investment	17,674
	Fixed O&M costs to	tal	881,115
2. Variable operation and n	naintenance (O&M) cost	5	
a. Raw materials			
Organic waste			-
Lime (CaCO ₃)			53,900
Sulfuric acid (H ₂ SO ₄	ı)		51,736
Methanol (CH ₄)			279,004
Water (H ₂ O)			1,221
	Raw materials to	tal	385,860
b. Utilities			513,998
c. Waste disposal			220,482
	Variable O&M costs to	tal	1,120,340
B. Plant overhead costs		= 10% of Total product cost	271,404
	Manufacturing costs to	tal	2,272,859
II. General expenses			
A. Administrative costs		= 3.5% of Total product cost	94,991
B. Marketing costs		= 4.0% of Total product cost	108,562
D. Financing interests		= 8.0% of Total capital investment	237,627
	General expenses to	tal	441,180
III. Total product cost (=)	[+ II)		2,714,039

Table 4.3: Estimation of total product cost

mechanized the secondary segregation and feeding process are. If the plant receives pure food waste or deploys conveyors or trommels, it requires fewer staff members, compared to when the plant needs to process mixed feedstock with an unmechanized segregation process. Based on interviews, the number of unskilled workers was set to 12 in the baseline model, assuming that the feedstock would be high-quality food waste and the plant would be somewhat mechanized. As this number is uncertain and has a large impact on the TPC estimate, the sensitivity analysis was conducted to investigate how it affects the economic performance of the plant, as illustrated in Section 5.3.2. Further, the number of skilled engineers required especially for the distillation process was assumed to be three for the capacity of 50 tons.

Moreover, the annual wage of each type of employee significantly varies across regions and countries. For the U.S. case, the baseline model referred to annual mean wages in Massachusetts, published in Bureau of Labor Statistics as of May 2016 [49]. While the annual mean wage of refuse and recycle material collectors was used for 1) unskilled staff, the corresponding number of chemical plant and system operators was used for 2) skilled engineers. Each ranges from 1) USD 31,110-49,040 and 2) USD 50,820-70,580. On the other hand, for India, we used data received from local and industry experts who have experience in operating biogas plants in India. Biogas plants are technologically similar, particularly the roles that require more laborers. The annual mean wages are significantly lower than those in the U.S., ranging from USD 2,400-3,600 for unskilled workers and USD 6,000-18,000 for engineers.

Variable O&M Costs

Variable O&M costs change in proportion to the production level of LA, which means the costs would be reduced to half when the plant cuts down its production level in half. These expenses include the costs of raw materials, utilities, and waste disposal. The amount and unit price of each raw material required for the process, such as organic waste, lime, sulfuric acid, methanol, and water, are described in Table 4.4. While the required volumes were derived from the mass balance results, several reliable price and market analysis reports, such as ICIS, were referred for the unit prices [23, 59]. Methanol accounts for approximately 70% of the total costs of raw materials, which implies that the methanol recycling process is crucial to reduce the TPC.

	X 7 B	Cost				Total Cost
Raw Materials	Volume	Volume MIN	MAX	AVG		[\$/year]
a. Organic waste	50 tons/day	0	0	0	[\$/ton]	•
b. Lime (CaCO3)	l tons/day	130	178	154	[\$/ton]	53,900
c. Sulfuric acid (H2SO4)	2.1 tons/day	50	94	72	[\$/ton]	51,736
d. Methanol (CH4)	394.6 gal/day	1.51	2.53	2.02	[\$/gal]	279,004
e. Water (H2O)	52.1 tons/day	0.067	0.067	0.067	[\$/ton]	1,221

Table 4.4: Estimation of raw material costs

The utilities costs used for the economic analysis, including electricity, cooling water, and steam, are shown in Table 4.5, which is based on the data available in published literature [59]. Moreover, as described in the previous chapter, the process still leaves a certain amount of solid waste and gypsum. The treatment and disposal of the generated solid waste also need to be considered as a part of the production costs, which was also included in Table 4.5.

Table 4.5: Unit cost of utilities and waste disposal

Utilities & Waste Disposal		Cost
a. Electricity	0.04	[\$/kW-hr]
b. Cooling water	0.013	[\$/m ³]
c. High pressure steam	12.1	[\$/1,000 kg]
d. Medium pressure steam	8.8	[\$/1,000 kg]
e. Low pressure steam	5.5	[\$/1,000 kg]
f. Solid waste treatment	0.02	[\$/lb]

4.3Revenue

The main revenue sources of the plant are sales of LA (purity: 99%) and tipping fees, as illustrated in Table 4.6. In estimating the revenue, the volume of LA generated for sales was calculated based on the process simulation results, while the price range of LA, USD 1.58-1.87 per kg, was referred from ICIS as the conservative selling price [23].

Along with the final product, the other major revenue stream is expected to come from the feedstock. In the U.S., a charge, which is generally called a tipping fee, is applied when a given quantity of waste is disposed of at a waste processing facility, such as landfills. This fee widely varies across facilities and states, depending on applicable waste management regulations and the capacity of available lands. For example, the tipping fee can be as low as USD 5.00 per ton in Texas, while it can be as high as USD 142.01 per ton in Washington [24]. The baseline model applied the tipping fees in Massachusetts, ranging from USD 60 to USD 100 per ton. In the India case, it was assumed that there would be no revenue from tipping fees. Although some cities like Mumbai and Bangalore have started introducing tipping fees to reduce the financial burdens on private treatment operators [28], the system has not been fully established, and open dumping of municipal solid waste is still a common practice in many places in India. As the environmental concerns increase and the government tightens regulations in the future, we anticipate that revenue can be expected to rise due to added tipping fees.

D	XZ- Income	Selling price			Selling		Revenue
Revenue Sources	volume	MIN	MAX	AVG		[\$/year]	
Lactic acid (99%)	3456 kg/day	1.58	1.87	1.73	[\$/kg]	2,093,370	
Tipping Fee	50 tons/day	60	100	80	[\$/ton]	1,400,000	
	Total	Revenue				3,493,370	

Table 4.6: Estimation of total revenue

4.4 Profitability Analysis: Net Present Value

The net present value (NPV) is one of the most widely used methods to evaluate an investment in an engineering project, representing the intrinsic value that will be added if the investment is undertaken. The decision rule is to accept the project if the NPV is positive and to reject the project if it has the negative NPV [10]. The baseline NPV is calculated as the difference between the gross present value (GPV) of future net cash flows and the TCI (Equation 4.3):

$$NPV = GPV - TCI \tag{4.3}$$

Further, as shown in Equation 4.4, the GPV is defined as the sum of the discounted cash flows over the lifetime of the plant, which was assumed to be 30 years in this assessment:

$$GPV = \sum_{t=1}^{30} \frac{CF_t}{(1+r)^t} = \frac{CF_1}{1+r} + \frac{CF_2}{(1+r)^2} + \dots + \frac{CF_{30}}{(1+r)^{30}}$$
(4.4)

where CF_t is the nominal net cash flow in year t and r is the nominal discount rate. In this assessment, CF_t was calculated using Equation 4.5, by subtracting from the reportable net income (I_t) the combined federal and state tax in which the depreciation cost was also taken into account:

$$CF_t = I_t - (I_t - FCI \cdot D_t) \cdot (\Theta_{Federal} + \Theta_{State})$$

$$(4.5)$$

In this equation, FCI is the fixed capital investment, D_t is the depreciation rate in year t, and $\Theta_{Federal}$ and Θ_{State} are the federal corporate tax rate and the state and local sales tax rate. First, the reportable net income (I_t) was estimated as the difference between the revenue generated in year t (R_t) and the total product cost incurred in year t (TPC_t) as shown in Equation 4.6:

$$I_t = R_t - TPC_t \tag{4.6}$$

Both R_t and TPC_t were adjusted for the inflation rate. In specific, the average inflation rates from 2010 to 2016 in the U.S. and India, respectively 1.63% and 8.32%, were assumed for the baseline analysis [47, 50]. Subsequently, the combined tax was calculated based on the net taxable income, which is I_t minus the depreciation cost $(FCI \cdot D_t)$. Depreciation is an annual income tax deduction allowed for a taxpayer, in order to recover the deterioration of long-term tangible assets, such as machinery, equipment, and buildings. For tax purposes, it is allowed to deduct the depreciation cost as a business expense from the net income. The IRS Modified Accelerated Cost Recovery System (MACRS) was followed to calculate the depreciation cost, assuming that the recovery period of assets is 20 years [26]. In addition, $\Theta_{Federal}$, which depends on the taxable income level, was defined by the federal corporate tax schedule from the Internal Revenue Service (IRS), U.S. Department of the Treasury [25], while the combined state and average local tax rate in Massachusetts as of 2015 was used as Θ_{State} [17]. In the case of India, both $\Theta_{Federal}$ and Θ_{State} were determined based on interviews from local experts. Finally, the assumptions used in the baseline model were summarized in Table 4.7, some of which were already described above.

Table 4.7: Assumptions in the NPV assessment

Baseline NPV Assumptions	Value	Unit
Plant Capacity	50	TPD
Plant Lifetime	30	years
Depreciation Period	20	years
Construction Period	1	year
Operating Days per Year	350	days
Cost Year of Analysis	2017	

4.5 Economic Performance Analysis under Uncertainty: Monte Carlo Simulation

The TCI, TPC, and NPV models illustrated in the previous sections involve inherent risks and uncertainties which are not irreducible. The sources of uncertainty are associated with contingent process operating conditions as well as an ever changing market and regulatory environment. The baseline assessment models adopt expected values for all the uncertain model inputs, which could lead to single-point and often unrealistic economic performance estimates [8, 57]. This was termed the "flaw of averages" by Savage, which states that estimations typically go wrong when a single average value is plugged into a model to represent an uncertain variable [58]. To overcome this problem and to better understand the impact of various uncertainties on the economic performance, a Monte Carlo simulation was carried out by using a range of values for each variable, instead of the single expected value. Monte Carlo techniques generate probability distributions of different outcomes in the presence of multiple uncertain parameters, as distinct from the conventional sensitivity analysis which varies only one input with the other variables fixed [57].

In this present study, Monte Carlo simulations were conducted using the software package R, based on the following methodological steps proposed by Ma, et al. [43]:

- 1. Develop the baseline models for the estimation of TCI, TPC, and NPV.
- 2. Identify the key uncertain inputs for each model.
- 3. Define the appropriate distribution profiles for each input.
- 4. Generate random values for all the identified uncertain variables from their own individual distributions. Repeat N times $(N=10^5)$.
- 5. Perform the estimations of TCI, TPC, and NPV based on the developed models in Step 1. for all of the randomly generated values.
- Generate the TCI/TPC/NPV distribution profiles from a broad range of outcomes derived in Step 5.

The identified sources of uncertainty are listed with their probability distributions in Table 4.8 and Table 4.9, respectively for the cases in the U.S. and India. For the majority of variables without any accumulated data from past experience, a simple uniform distribution (UD) was adopted, which is determined by the variable's minimum and maximum values with the constant probability within the range. In addition, when the most likely value of a parameter is available, the variable used a triangular distribution (TD), which has a triangle-shaped probability density function defined by the minimum, maximum and mode. Lastly, a bootstrap distribution (BD) was applied to a variable which has its historical data available, using re-sampling methods.

Table 4.8: Uncertain cost model inputs and corresponding probability distributions: the United States

Uncertainty driver	Distribution	Minimum	Maximum	Most Likely	
Total Capital Investment (TCI)					
Ratio for purchased-equipment installation	UD	25.0%	55.0%		
Ratio for instrumentation and controls, installed	UD	8.0%	50.0%		
Ratio for piping, installed	UD	10.0%	80.0%		
Ratio for electrical, installed	UD	10.0%	40.0%		
Ratio for buildings, process and auxiliary	UD	10.0%	70.0%		
Ratio for service facilities and yard improvements	UD	40.0%	100.0%		
Ratio for land	UD	4.0%	8.0%		
Ratio for engineering and supervision	UD	5.0%	30.0%		
Ratio for legal expenses	UD	1.0%	3.0%		
Ratio for construction expense & contractor's fee	UD	10.0%	20.0%		
Ratio for contingency	UD	5.0%	15.0%		
Ratio for workin capital	UD	10.0%	20.0%		
Total Prod	uct Cost (TPC	C)			
Lime (CaCO ₃) unit price [\$/ton]	UD	130	178		
Sulfuric Acid (H ₂ SO ₄) unit price [\$/ton]	UD	50	94		
Methanol (CH4) unit price [\$/gal]	UD	1.51	2.53		
Water (H ₂ O) unit price [\$/ton]	UD	0.067	0.067		
Annual wage of engineers [\$/year]	UD	50,820	70,580		
Annual wage of unskilled staffs [\$/year]	UD	31,110	49,040		
Ratio for maintenance and repairs	UD	2.0%	6.0%		
Ratio for insurance	UD	0.4%	1.0%		
Ratio for plant overhead costs	UD	5.0%	15.0%		
Ratio for administrative costs	UD	2.0%	5.0%		
Ratio for marketing costs	UD	2.0%	6.0%		
Ratio for financing interests	UD	6.0%	10.0%		
Net Prese	nt Value (NPV)			
Lactic acid selling price [\$/kg]	UD	1.58	1.87		
Tipping fee [\$/ton]	UD	60	100		
Inflation rate	RH	Historical da https://www.	ta from 2010 bls.gov/cpi/c	-2016, pid1702.pdf	
State tax rate	TD	0%	9.45%	6.25%	
Discount rate	UD	14.4%	16.00%		

Table 4.9: Uncertain cost model inputs and corresponding probability distributions: India

Uncertainty driver	Distribution	Minimum	Maximum	Most Likely	
Total Capital Investment (TCI)					
Ratio for purchased-equipment installation	UD	25.0%	55.0%		
Ratio for instrumentation and controls, installed	UD	8.0%	50.0%		
Ratio for piping, installed	UD	10.0%	80.0%		
Ratio for electrical, installed	UD	10.0%	40.0%		
Ratio for buildings, process and auxiliary	UD	10.0%	70.0%		
Ratio for service facilities and yard		40.00/	100.00/		
improvements	UD	40.0%	100.0%		
Ratio for land	UD	4.0%	8.0%		
Ratio for engineering and supervision	UD	5.0%	30.0%		
Ratio for legal expenses	UD	1.0%	3.0%		
Ratio for construction expense & contractor's fee	UD	10.0%	20.0%		
Ratio for contingency	UD	5.0%	15.0%		
Ratio for workin capital	UD	10.0%	20.0%		
Total Prod	luct Cost (TPC	C)			
Lime (CaCO ₃) unit price [\$/ton]	UD	130	178		
Sulfuric Acid (H ₂ SO ₄) unit price [\$/ton]	UD	50	94		
Methanol (CH4) unit price [\$/gal]	UD	1.51	2.53		
Water (H ₂ O) unit price [\$/ton]	UD	0.067	0.067		
Annual wage of engineers [\$/year]	UD	6,000	18,000		
Annual wage of unskilled staffs [\$/year]	UD	2,400	3,600		
Ratio for maintenance and repairs	UD	2.0%	6.0%		
Ratio for insurance	UD	0.4%	1.0%		
Ratio for plant overhead costs	UD	5.0%	15.0%		
Ratio for administrative costs	UD	2.0%	5.0%		
Ratio for marketing costs	UD	2.0%	6.0%		
Ratio for financing interests	UD	6.0%	10.0%		
Net Prese	nt Value (NPV)			
Lactic acid selling price [\$/lb]	UD	1.58	1.87		
Tipping fee [\$/ton]	UD	-	-		
Inflation rate	RH	Historical da OECD data	ita from 2010)-2016,	
State tax rate	TD	0%	9.45%	6.25%	
Discount rate	UD	14.4%	16.00%		

Chapter 5

Results

5.1 Introduction

The results of the economic performance analysis are presented in this section. Section 5.2 shows the capital and operating expenses required to implement the proposed waste-to-LA process, respectively in the U.S. and India. In addition, the net present values (NPVs) for each case were presented in Section 5.3, along with the impact of discount rate changes on the profitability assessment results. Using the developed models, several sensitivity analyses were conducted to answer critical questions in making the investment decision on whether to scale up this technology, which was described in Section 5.4.

5.2 Capital and Operating Expenses for Production

The cumulative probability functions of fixed capital investment (FCI), total capital investment (TCI), and total product cost (TPC) for the proposed waste-to-LA plant were generated from the cost analysis illustrated in Chapter 4. Two different scenarios were considered in terms of the location where this scale-up project takes place: one in the U.S. and the other in India. The FCI/TCI cumulative probability distribution profiles for each scenario are shown, respectively in Fig 5-1 and Fig 5-2, while the results of TPC for both cases are shown comparatively in Fig 5-3. As opposed to

single-point estimates, the following information valuable for the investment decision can be easily obtained from the distribution profiles:

- The expected values of the FCI, TCI, TPC, which are presented with gray/black dot lines, can be readily inferred from the graphs, which also visualize the possible ranges that each estimate could take. While the mean values of FCI and TCI were estimated to be respectively USD 2.53 million and USD 2.98 million in the U.S. case (see Figure 5-1), the estimates of the corresponding values were USD 2.15 million and USD 2.53 million in the Indian case (see Figure 5-2). Further, as shown in Figure 5-3, the means of TPC in both cases are respectively USD 2.68 million and USD 1.79 million. For all the costs, it is not only that the expected values are larger but also their ranges are broader in the U.S. case, compared to the case of India.
- Another important factor in making an investment decision is whether the estimated FCI/TCI/TPC would be lower than the investor's anticipated budgets. The aforementioned figures also show the probability that each cost falls below a certain target level. For example, if the target TCI level for this project is USD 3.5 million, the probability that it will be achieved is approximately 87.5% in the U.S. and 99.0% in India. Further, it can be readily deduced from Figure 5-3 that it is unlikely for the TPC to exceed the expected revenue in both cases.
- Conversely, the distribution profiles also inform a threshold value which the FCI/TCI/TPC does not go beyond with a certain percentage of possibility. For instance, in the U.S. case, it is estimated that the TCI and TPC will not go above USD 3.57 million and USD2.91 million with a probability of 90%. On the other hand, it is expected that the plant implemented in India will require less than USD 3.03 million for the TCI and annually incur less than USD1.94 million for the TPC, with a probability of 90%.



Figure 5-1: Capital investment distribution of a waste-to-LA plant based in the United States



Figure 5-2: Capital investment distribution of a waste-to-LA plant based in India



Figure 5-3: Total product cost distributions of a waste-to-LA plant: the United States and India

5.3 Profitability Analysis: NPV

The net present value (NPV) analysis was conducted to evaluate whether the proposed process has the potential to generate profits. Figure 5-4 shows the NPV cumulative distribution profiles generated from the baseline simulation results, respectively for the case of the U.S. and India. Further, this section also includes the results of sensitivity analyses to investigate how the NPV changes in response to changes in the number of unskilled workers as well as the discount rate. The methods used for the NPV analysis and Monte Carlo simulation are described in Section 4.4 and 4.5.

5.3.1 Baseline Results

The baseline models assumed the number of required skilled engineers as three and the number of unskilled staff as 12. Additionally, the nominal discount rate was assumed to be 12%. The other assumptions made in the base models are reported in Section 4.4. Based on the results of TCI, TPC, and revenue, the NPV was estimated, and the distribution profiles are shown in Figure 5-4. The expected value of the NPV is USD 1.95 million when the plant is implemented in the U.S., which is higher than the corresponding value in the case of India, USD 1.31 million. The probability that the NPV will be above zero is approximately 87.5% and 73.7% in the U.S. and India respectively, which indicates that there is a higher risk in India regardless of the cheaper capital and operating expenses. This is mainly because of the lack of a landfill tipping fee as a revenue source in India. It implies that the profitability can be significantly improved if landfill tipping fees become more common.

5.3.2 Operating Labor Costs

The operating labor costs account for the greatest proportion of the TPC in the case of the U.S., around a quarter of the total operating expenses, due to the high average annual wage. Further, as described in the previous chapter, the number of unskilled operators whose main responsibilities are to segregate food waste can vary depending on the quality of received feedstock and how automated the segregation process is.



Figure 5-4: The baseline cumulative distributions of NPV: the United States and India

According to an industry expert, the plant without any automated segregation process may need over 20 staff members on hand when it receives a low quality of food waste (e.g. mixed with other waste). Thus, an sensitivity analysis was conducted to investigate how the NPV is impacted when the number of unskilled operators increase from 12. The results are shown in Figure 5-5 and Figure 5-6, respectively for the U.S. and Indian cases.

As it was presumed, the NPV distribution profiles significantly shifted to the left with the increasing number of unskilled operators in the case of the U.S. The expected values of the NPV are USD 0.93 million and USD 0.04 million for 15 and 18 operators; nevertheless, the value drops below zero when the number increases to 21. In contrast, in the case of India where the average annual wage is much lower, there was only a slight shift to the left, as demonstrated in Fugure 5-6. Even if the plant requires 24 unskilled staff members, the NPV still stays positive, approximately USD 0.74 million. These results indicate that the quality of feedstock is a crucial factor that needs to be considered to make the process profitable especially in the U.S., with less of an impact on an Indian plant.

5.3.3 Discount Rate

Future cash flows were discounted at the discount rate to reflect the time value of money (TVM) in the NPV analysis, according to Equation 4.4 in Section 4.4. The TVM is one of the core concepts in finance, which suggests that currently available money is more valuable than the same amount of money in the future due to alternative investment opportunities [42]. Thus, the discount rate can be understood as the opportunity cost of capital, or the interest rate that an alternative investment could potentially bring. There are two essential factors that the discount rate depends on: (1) the market's perceived level of risk associated with the project, and (2) how the project is financed [6, 8, 43]. With the same financing mechanism, the riskier the project is used when the project's environment is unstable, in terms of macroeconomics, operation, financing, and market. Assuming 100% equity financing, the



Figure 5-5: NPV cumulative distributions under various number of unskilled operators: the United States



Figure 5-6: NPV cumulative distributions under various number of unskilled operators: India

discount rate is conventionally estimated as the sum of a risk premium associated with the specific project and the risk-free rate of return [6, 8, 43]. Nevertheless, it is not a straightforward task to estimate the risk premium applicable to the project under consideration.

In the NPV baseline models, the discount rate was assumed to be 12%, referring to the previous body of literature on the economic analysis of similar processes such as biogas production/anaerobic digestion [18, 33]. Nevertheless, a suitable discount rate is difficult to determine and is a significant uncertain part of the NPV estimation. To investigate how the NPV changes with a different discount rate, a sensitivity analysis was carried out within a reasonable range, by varying the discount rate from 6% to 20%. As illustrated in Figure 5-7, a higher discount rate not only drives down the expected NPV, but also reduces the probability that the NPV will be higher than a certain level while increasing the downside risk. Therefore, under the situation where the project-specific risks cannot be easily eliminated, it is important to strengthen the financing mechanism, in order to minimize the level of risk and increase the probability that the project is profitable.

5.4 Comparative Analysis of Economic Performance

The assessment conducted above was under the assumptions that 1) the performance of the developed technology will be constant, and 2) the process will generate LA of a certain targeted purity. However, the improvement of the technology in the future may significantly enhance the economic performance of the process, while undesirable conditions may deteriorate the technology performance proven on a bench scale and negatively affect the profitability. In addition, even though the analysis set the purity of final product as 99%, there are demands for other grades or even different products that could be manufactured using the same or similar technology. It is expected that the production of each grade or product results in different TCI, TPC, and NPV. This section illustrates the sensitivity analyses carried out to investigate how these variables change the economic performance. Further, based on the results



Figure 5-7: NPV cumulative distributions under various discount rates

and insights gained from the analysis, a Technology Commercialization Assessment Matrix (TCAM) was proposed with the aim of providing a framework based on which potential investors or technology developers can assess the economic performance of new technologies and make investment strategies for the commercialization.

5.4.1 Technology Performance

In the assessment described above, the concentration of LA generated through anaerobic digestion was assumed to be 44 g/L, which is a conservative number taken from experimental results. However, continuous efforts have been, and will be, made in the lab to enhance the technology's performance, that is to increase the concentration of LA produced. Simultaneously, there is a risk that the scaled-up anaerobic digester may not be able to achieve the same concentration of LA as the bench-scale bioreactor. To investigate how both scenarios could affect the economic performance of the plant, a sensitivity analysis was conducted by varying the LA concentration from 30 g/L to 80 g/L. The hypothesis was made that a higher concentration would reduce the utility cost associated with the evaporator (EVAPOR), because a less volume of water needs to be evaporated. It also might result in the decrease of TPC, as EVAPOR was considered as one of the most energy-intensive equipment.

Figure 5-8 shows the total utility cost per hour, and utility costs associated with the evaporator (EVAPOR) as well as the reactive distillation column for esterification (RD:ESTER). As it was hypothesized, the evaporator consumes less energy as the concentration goes up, according to the results from Aspen process simulations. However, it was also found that the total utility cost per hour increased from USD 59 to USD 69, when the concentration changes from 30 g/L to 80 g/L. The main contributor to the increase of total utility cost was found to be RD:ESTER, which needs to process a larger volume as the concentration of LA increases. Although the total utility cost increases with improved technology performance, it also enhances the volume of final product, as shown in Figure 5-9. To investigate how these changes affect the overall economic performance, the expected values of TCI, TPC, revenue, and NPV for each LA concentration (30, 44, 50, 60, 70, 80 [g/L]) were approximately estimated. As illustrated in Figure 5-10, it was found that the overall profitability (NPV) can be significantly improved by upgraded technology performance, because the revenue increase from LA is expected to be much higher than the increase in capital and operating expenses (TCI, TPC).

5.4.2 Targeted Applications of Final Product

The process design and economic assessment were conducted above, under the assumption that the technology developed at MIT would be commercialized for producing high-quality LA (99% purity), due to its high market growth potential. However, as the separation and purification of crude LA need to be integrated for producing the targeted final product, this application requires high capital and operating expenses, which results in higher investment risk. Additionally, in contrast to established technologies, lab-scale technologies are associated with even higher risk, as experimental results may not necessarily be replicated when they are scaled up. In order to lower the investment barriers, it is important to consider other potential applications of the technology as an intermediate step for a proof of scale. If another application can be achieved with lower capital costs, an initial investment can be made for this application and move towards more profitable projects, once the technology feasibility is proven in an industrial scale. In this study, two more applications, 1) food and beverage and 2) animal feed, were approximately evaluated using the economic assessment model described in Chapter 4, under the assumption that a plant will be operated in India. Table 5.1 shows the expected value of TCI, TPC, revenue, and NPV for each option, including the originally targeted market, i.e. poly-lactic acid (PLA).

Food and Beverage

LA has a variety of applications besides the industrial application as a monomer of PLA, as described in Section 2.3. According to the market analysis conducted by Feedback Consulting, the share of food and beverage in Indian LA and PLA industry



Lactic Acid Concentration [g/L]

Figure 5-8: Estimated utility costs per hour under various LA concentrations



Figure 5-9: Estimated volumes of LA under various LA concentrations



Figure 5-10: Expected TCI, TPC, revenue, and NPV under various LA concentrations

is currently the largest by value, accounting for about 32% as of 2015 [13]. Since the purity required for this segment is approximately 80% and the selling price of LA is expected to be lower, it was assumed that both TPC and revenue would be reduced comparing to the 99% LA production. For this analysis, the Aspen simulation model for the separation and purification process was adjusted to produce 80% LA, where it was found that the equipment cost and utility costs are reduced with lower purity of LA. As a supplemental study, a sensitivity analysis was conducted to investigate how the utility cost required for the separation and purification changes depending on the targeted purity (70, 80, 90, 99.9%), as shown in Figure 5-11. Further, the selling price of food-grade LA (80% purity) was assumed to be in the range of USD 1.0-1.1 per kg according to vendor quotations, while the hourly LA production was assumed to be 180.5 kg/hour based on the simulation results. As shown in Table 5.1, it is expected that the reduction in the expected revenue is not fully compensated by the decrease in the expected TCI and TPC. Further, the revenue is expected to be

lower than the TPC, which results in a substantial drop in NPV. However, it has to be noted that the separation and purification technologies and process design were originally selected and optimized to achieve 99% purity. It is most likely that the process could be redesigned and further optimized to reduce the TCI and TPC for the production of 80% LA. Additionally, there are some factors that were not taken into account in this comparative analysis but may positively affect the NPV in more favorable conditions, such as the improvement of technology performance and the quality of feedstock.



Figure 5-11: Total utility costs required for the production of LA with different targeted purities

Animal Feed

The separation and purification process accounts for the largest share of the total capital and operating expenses, as stated previously. An alternative hypothesis is that, if one did not have to separate and purify the LA, both TCI and TPC might decrease considerably, which would make the initial scale-up project more feasible. The same technology developed at MIT can be also applied to produce animal feed, by adding an additional fermentation reactor using *Yarrowia*. This aerobic *Yarrowia* reactor further converts LA and other acids into high-value animal feed. The overall process diagram is illustrated in Figure 5-12.

The following assumptions were made in estimating the approximate expected values of TCI, TPC, revenue and NPV. First, the same amount of feedstock (i.e. 50 tons of food waste mixed with the same volume of water) was assumed, while a conservative conversion rate, 0.21 [g of animal feed/g of LA], was used to calculate how much animal feed is produced from a certain amount of LA, based on experimental results. Subsequently, the quantity of animal feed generated from this process was estimated to be 791.74 kg per day. According to vendor quotations, the selling price of animal feed was assumed to be within the range of USD 400-1,000 per ton. Moreover, this analysis assumed that only one filter press is purchased and used for two different purposes, one to separate solid waste after the anaerobic digester and the other to remove the liquid from the cell mass, i.e. animal feed, generated from the Yarrowia reactor. In addition, the disposal fee of solid waste was assumed to be zero to be conservative, even though the solid waste could be sold as compost in the market. This is based on an interview with both local and industry wide experts who have had experience in the business of biogas production. Lastly, since this process is rather simple and does not involve a series of distillation columns, the number of skilled engineers required to operate and maintain the plant was assumed to be one, as opposed to three. On the other hand, the number of unskilled staff members who segregate food was presumed to be the same, as the same amount of food waste needs to be processed.

As shown in Table 5.1, the approximate expected values of TCI and TPC were estimated to be USD 0.43 M and USD 0.13 M, which are much lower than the other applications considered in this study. Further, the estimate of the expected revenue was USD 0.19 M, leading to a positive NPV (USD 0.32 M).



Figure 5-12: A proposed process diagram for the production of animal feed

Targeted Application	Animal Feed	Food/Beverage	Poly Lactic Acid
Total Capital Investment (TCI)	USD 0.43 M	USD 2.46 M	USD 2.52 M
Total Product Cost (TPC)	USD 0.13 M	USD 1.76 M	USD 1.78 M
Revenue	USD 0.19 M	USD 1.54 M	USD 2.09 M
Net Present Value (NPV)	USD 0.32 M	USD - 4.19 M	USD 1.31 M
Additional Required Processes	Yarrowia Fermentation	Separation & Purification [Targeted Purity: 80%]	Separation & Purification [Targeted Purity: 99%]

Table 5.1: Comparative economic performance among three available applications

5.4.3 Technology Commercialization Assessment Matrix

Table 5.1 provides the overall picture of commercialization potential for the novel microbial technology developed at MIT. It presents important factors to consider when making investment decisions, such as capital and operating costs and profitability, for each major application. As can be inferred from the table, the industrial application for the production of PLA is most likely to bring the largest profits, among the other applications. However, it also requires the highest capital and operating expenses, which significantly raises a barrier to funding or investment. This high risk could be mitigated by proving the lab-scale technology at industrial scale with small capital investment. As described in the previous section, the application to produce animal feed could be achieved with much smaller capital and operating expenses, as the process does not require the separation and purification units. Simultaneously, the animal feed production is expected to bring positive profits, although the profit scale is smaller than the polymer-grade LA production. Therefore, it could be proposed that, initially, the technology should be scaled up to produce animal feed, not only for profit purposes, but also with the main aim of proving whether the technology behaves as expected. Subsequently, once the technology is proven at scale, more capital can be injected into the plant to incorporate the separation and purification units and ultimately manufacture polymer-grade LA. For the production of food/beverage grade LA (80%), the negative NPV suggests that further research needs to be done to investigate whether there are other directions that could be taken to improve the economic performance. For example, one option is to further explore separation and purification processes that are better suited to the production of LA with 80% purity, as the process used in this analysis was selected and optimized for 99%. Another way is to explore other applications which have higher selling prices with the same purity requirement. Otherwise, an investment decision could be made to skip this application and target polymer-grade LA once the technology is proven at scale and sufficient capital is created from the production of animal feed.

This matrix (Table 5.1) can be used not only for this specific technology but also for other technologies with commercialization potential. A generalized form of this matrix is shown in Table 5.2, which is proposed as a Technology Commercialization Assessment Matrix (TCAM) in this thesis. The TCAM can be used as a framework for assessing the economical feasibility of a technology with multiple applications and making investment strategies for its commercialization. First, major markets/applications of a specific technology should be listed out with their required technology performances and market sizes. In general, the performance of a newly developed technology often determines the market/application for which the technology is commercialized. For example, when a novel material is developed, different markets/applications are targeted depending on the achieved durability and strength of a material. In the case of this project, the purity of LA corresponds to the technology performance. Further, for each market/application, its capital and operating expenses as well as its profitability should be estimated and compared, either approximately or in detail.

The comparison of these factors provides insights to make investment decisions as well as to determine the direction of technology development. Supposing that a technology has been proven to achieve all the listed performances, the matrix can be used to identify an investment strategy, not only in terms of the commercialization feasibility at present but also considering time as a dimension. For example, in the long term, one market/application, i.e. animal feed, can be the target of an initial investment as well as an intermediate step before moving toward the ultimate goal, i.e. polymer-grade LA, as suggested above. On the other hand, there are cases where technological progress still needs to be made in order to achieve a specific level of performance and be commercialized in the corresponding market. The TCAM also helps to determine whether the technology is worth further investment for performance enhancement, which could direct limited research funding into appropriate technologies from the perspective of commercialization. Lastly, as included in Table 5.2, there are other important factors that were out of the scope of this study but preferably should be taken into account in making decisions on investment and technology development. These factors include environmental impact and social value, which are increasingly used by venture capital as an important indicator in the evaluation of investment. Recently, more and more governments also place emphasis on these factors in deciding projects to support.

Technology Performance	Low (-)	Medium (80%)	High (99%)
Targeted Application	(Animal Feed)	(Food/Beverage)	(Poly Lactic Acid)
Capital Expenses (TCI)	(USD 0.43 M)	(USD 2.46 M)	(USD 2.52 M)
Operating Expenses (TPC)	(USD 0.13 M)	(USD 1.76 M)	(USD 1.78 M)
Revenue	(USD 0.19 M)	(USD 1.54 M)	(USD 2.09 M)
Profitability (NPV)	(USD 0.32 M)	(USD - 4.19 M)	(USD 1.31 M)
Environmental Impact	-	-	-
Social Value	-	-	13
Other Technologies Required	(Yarrowia Fermentation)	(Separation & Purification) [Targeted Purity: 80%]	(Separation & Purification) [Targeted Purity: 99%]
Associated Risk	- ,	-	

Table 5.2: Technology Commercialization Assessment Matrix (TCAM)
Chapter 6

Concluding Remarks and Future Work

6.1 Summary

Innovative technology solutions are increasingly vital for tackling today's global challenges of resource exhaustion and unsustainable waste generation. As a novel approach to waste treatment, the laboratory of Professor Gregory Stephanopoulos at MIT has developed a sustainable process for lactic acid (LA) production based on anaerobic digestion of organic fraction of municipal solid waste (MSW). This lab-scale technology has great potential to serve as a cutting-edge solution to divert waste from landfills as well as to generate value from a renewable source with zero to negative costs. Among various applications, a particular focus was placed on poly-lactic acid (PLA), a biodegradable polymer, as this has been the main driver of LA's market growth.

As part of the efforts to scale-up and commercialize this technology, this thesis examined its technical and economic feasibility to produce polymer-grade LA (99%) in the U.S. and India. First, the process from feedstock to end product was designed and simulated to determine mass and energy balances, utility costs, and equipment costs, as described in Chapter 3. In this study, the method of esterification-hydrolysis with reactive distillation was adopted among available separation and purification technologies. Based on the process simulation results, this work modeled the economic costs and profitability, including Fixed Capital Investment (FCI), Total Capital Investment (TCI), Total Product Cost (TPC), and Net Present Value (NPV). Further, Monte Carlo simulations were incorporated into the baseline models in order to take into account the impact of irreducible uncertainties on economic viability.

The distribution profiles of FCI, TCI, TPC, NPV under the baseline scenarios are presented in Chapter 5. The expected values of NPV were estimated to be USD 1.95 million and USD 1.31 million, respectively in the case of the U.S. and India. While much more capital is required to operate a plant in the U.S., mainly due to higher machinery prices and labor costs, it is also expected to generate extra revenue from landfill tipping fees, enough to compensate high capital and operating expenses. Further, a sensitivity analysis was conducted to investigate how the profitability is affected by the number of unskilled operators, which is likely to change depending on the quality of feedstock received. It was found that, in the case of India, the NPV stayed positive (USD 0.74 million), even when the number of unskilled staff members was doubled from 12 to 24, in contrast to the U.S. Moreover, the economic performance was found to be significantly improved under lower discount rates, which suggests that project-specific or financing risks should be minimized.

For more comprehensive assessment of the technology, different scenarios were evaluated for economic viability, in terms of technology performance and targeted applications (Section 5.4). By varying the concentration of LA generated in the bioreactor, it was revealed that the improvement of technology performance could significantly enhance the NPV, while it could drop below zero at the concentration of 37-38 [g/L]. Moreover, the comparative study between three different applications (animal feed, food/beverage, PLA) showed that the production of animal feed requires much less capital (approximately USD 0.43M for TCI) and still generates some profits. This result suggests that this application could be used as an intermediate step to prove the technology at an industrial scale, before moving toward the most profitable application with high capital and operating expenses. Finally, based on the results and insights gained in this study, a Technology Commercialization Assessment Matrix (TCAM) was proposed as a framework for assessing the economic viability and commercial potential of a novel technology with various potential applications (Section 5.4.3).

6.2 Future Work

In this study, guided by experimental results, the profitability of a novel LA production process from organic waste was investigated, with the ultimate goal of commercializing the lab-scale technology. While the results shown in this thesis are positive, there are still remaining steps that need to be taken before a successful scale-up and implementation can be achieved. From a practical standpoint, a pilot-scale plant with a feedstock capacity of 2 to 5 tons first needs to be built to demonstrate the technical feasibility and reliability of the process on a larger scale. Considering the high capital and operating expenses in the U.S. and high risk associated with new technologies, it is recommended that the first pilot-scale plant be implemented in India for the production of animal feed without separation and purification units. This step could also serve as a proof-of-concept for the LA production process, with much lower capital costs due to the lack of the distillation unit operation. In India, however, extra steps are required due to different environmental conditions (temperature, humidity, etc.) as well as infrastructure and, to a lesser degree, available laboratory facilities. Initially, the microbial technology developed at MIT needs to be tested under local conditions using organic waste generated in India. This is primarily because the technology performance might be significantly affected by various feedstock properties discussed above. During this step, technical skills and knowledge must be transferred to local developers and operators in India for successful implementation. At the same time, these commercialization steps need to be supplemented by additional research. First, the sensitivity of plant capacity to TCI, TPC, and NPV could be examined, which will help to determine the future implementation plan. Secondly, for the production of food-grade LA, the process - especially separation and purification - could be further investigated and redesigned in order to improve the profitability. Lastly,

as mentioned previously, the environmental and social impact that this technology could potentially make are increasingly important and thus need to be examined in the future. In particular, life-cycle assessments (LCA) could be conducted to evaluate and compare the environmental impacts among different applications.

Bibliography

- Mohamed Ali Abdel-Rahman, Yukihiro Tashiro, and Kenji Sonomoto. Recent advances in lactic acid production by microbial fermentation processes. *Biotechnology Advances*, 31(6):877–902, November 2013.
- [2] Fabrizio Adani, Fulvia Tambone, and Andrea Gotti. Biostabilization of municipal solid waste. Waste Management (New York, N.Y.), 24(8):775–783, 2004.
- [3] Ramzi A. Abd Alsaheb, Azzam Aladdin, Nor Zalina Othman, Roslinda Abd Malek, Ong Mei Leng, Ramlan Aziz, and Hesham A. El Enshasy. Lactic acid applications in pharmaceutical and cosmeceutical industries. *Journal of Chemical* and Pharmaceutical Research, 7(10), October 2015.
- [4] Susmit S. Bapat, Clint P. Aichele, and Karen A. High. Development of a sustainable process for the production of polymer grade lactic acid. Sustainable Chemical Processes, 2(1):3, February 2014.
- [5] Prashant Purushottam Barve, Bhaskar Dattatreya Kulkarni, Sanjay Narayan Nene, Ravindra William Shinde, Milind Yashwant Gupte, Chandrashekhar Narayan Joshi, Gandhali Arun Thite, Vilas Bhiku Chavan, and Tushar Ramchandra Deshpande. Process for preparing L- (+) -lactic acid, October 2010. U.S. Classification 562/586; International Classification C07C59/08; Cooperative Classification C07C67/60, C07C51/47, C07C67/08, C07C51/09, Y02P20/127; European Classification C07C67/08, C07C67/60, C07C51/47, C07C51/09.
- [6] Simon Benninga. *Principles of Finance with Excel.* Oxford University Press, New York, 2 edition edition, September 2010.
- [7] Marcela Piassi Bernardo, Luciana Fontes Coelho, Daiane Cristina Sass, and Jonas Contiero. l-(+)-Lactic acid production by Lactobacillus rhamnosus B103 from dairy industry waste. Brazilian Journal of Microbiology, 47(3):640-646, April 2016.
- [8] Richard A. Brealey, Stewart C. Myers, and Franklin Allen. Principles of Corporate Finance, 9th Edition. McGraw-Hill / Irwin, Boston, 9th edition edition, October 2007.

- [9] Fabio Andres Castillo Martinez, Eduardo Marcos Balciunas, Jose Manuel Salgado, Jose Manuel Dominguez Gonzalez, Attilio Converti, and Ricardo Pinheiro de Souza Oliveira. Lactic acid properties, applications and production: A review. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 30(1):70–83, March 2013.
- [10] Prasanna Chandra. Financial Management. Tata McGraw-Hill Education, 2008.
- [11] Jae-Hwan Choi, Sung-Hye Kim, and Seung-Hyeon Moon. Recovery of lactic acid from sodium lactate by ion substitution using ion-exchange membrane. Separation and Purification Technology, 28(1):69–79, July 2002.
- [12] Planning Commission. Report of the Task Force on Waste to Energy (Volume I), May 2014.
- [13] Feedback Consulting. Opportunity in the Indian Lactic Acid & Poly Lactic Acid Market - 2016, April 2016.
- [14] Rathin Datta and Michael Henry. Lactic acid: recent advances in products, processes and technologies - a review. Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology, 81(7):1119-1129, July 2006.
- [15] Mutasem El-Fadel, Angelos N. Findikakis, and James O. Leckie. Environmental Impacts of Solid Waste Landfilling. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 50(1):1–25, May 1997.
- [16] U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). Advancing Sustainable Materials Management: 2014 Facts and Figures Report, November 2016.
- [17] Tax Foundation. State and Local Sales Tax Rates in 2017 (available from: https://taxfoundation.org/state-and-local-sales-tax-rates-in-2017/), January 2017.
- [18] Solomie A. Gebrezgabher, Miranda P. M. Meuwissen, Bram A. M. Prins, and Alfons G. J. M. Oude Lansink. Economic analysis of anaerobic digestion - A case of Green power biogas plant in The Netherlands. NJAS - Wageningen Journal of Life Sciences, 57(2):109–115, June 2010.
- [19] Tayyba Ghaffar, Muhammad Irshad, Zahid Anwar, Tahir Aqil, Zubia Zulifqar, Asma Tariq, Muhammad Kamran, Nudrat Ehsan, and Sajid Mehmood. Recent trends in lactic acid biotechnology: A brief review on production to purification. Journal of Radiation Research and Applied Sciences, 7(2):222–229, April 2014.
- [20] Neha Gupta, Krishna Kumar Yadav, and Vinit Kumar. A review on current status of municipal solid waste management in India. *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 37:206–217, November 2015.
- [21] V. (Vysoka Skola Chemicko-technologicka Habova, K. (Vysoka Skola Chemickotechnologicka Melzoch, and M. (Vysoka Skola Chemicko-technologicka Rychtera. Modern method of lactic acid recovery from fermentation broth. Czech Journal of Food Sciences - UZPI (Czech Republic).

- [22] Dimitrios G. Hatzinikolaou and Henry Y. Wang. Extractive fermentation systems for organic acids production. The Canadian Journal of Chemical Engineering, 70(3):543-552, June 1992.
- [23] ICIS. Indicative Chemical Prices A-Z (available from: https://www.icis.com/chemicals/channel-info-chemicals-a-z/), 2008.
- [24] Green Power Inc. Waste to Fuel became Reality! Landfill Tipping Fees in USA 2013, 2013.
- [25] Internal Revenue Service (IRS). Instructions for Form 1120s (available from: https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-pdf/i1120s.pdf), 2016.
- [26] Internal Revenue Service (IRS). Publication 946 (2016), How To Depreciate Property, 2016.
- [27] Prashant V. Iyer and Y. Y. Lee. Product inhibition in simultaneous saccharification and fermentation of cellulose into lactic acid. *Biotechnology Letters*, 21(5):371–373, May 1999.
- [28] R. Jani Kedar. Sustainable Solid Waste Management for Ahmedabad, India (available from: https://repository.tudelft.nl/islandora/object/uuid%3a6b3381e9-3054-4f93-8123-4c7587a249eb). 2015.
- [29] H. G. Joglekar, Imran Rahman, Suresh Babu, B. D. Kulkarni, and Ajit Joshi. Comparative assessment of downstream processing options for lactic acid. Separation and Purification Technology, 52(1):1–17, November 2006.
- [30] Kurian Joseph. Municipal Solid Waste Management in India. In Agamuthu Pariatamby and Masaru Tanaka, editors, *Municipal Solid Waste Management* in Asia and the Pacific Islands, Environmental Science and Engineering, pages 113–138. Springer Singapore, 2014. DOI: 10.1007/978-981-4451-73-4 7.
- [31] M. JAdrvinen, L. Myllykoski, R. Keiski, and J. Sohlo. Separation of lactic acid from fermented broth by reactive extraction. *Bioseparation*, 9(3):163–166, May 2000.
- [32] Khanjan Ajaybhai Kalyani and Krishan K. Pandey. Waste to energy status in India: A short review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 31:113–120, March 2014.
- [33] Sotirios Karellas, Ioannis Boukis, and Georgios Kontopoulos. Development of an investment decision tool for biogas production from agricultural waste. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 14(4):1273–1282, May 2010.
- [34] Yang Hoon Kim and Seung-Hyeon Moon. Lactic acid recovery from fermentation broth using one-stage electrodialysis. Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology, 76(2):169–178, February 2001.

- [35] Rakesh Kumar and Sanjay M. Mahajani. Esterification of Lactic Acid with n-Butanol by Reactive Distillation. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research, 46(21):6873-6882, October 2007.
- [36] Rakesh Kumar, Sanjay M Mahajani, Hemant Nanavati, and Santosh B Noronha. Recovery of lactic acid by batch reactive distillation. Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology, 81(7):1141–1150, July 2006.
- [37] Sunil Kumar, J. K. Bhattacharyya, A. N. Vaidya, Tapan Chakrabarti, Sukumar Devotta, and A. B. Akolkar. Assessment of the status of municipal solid waste management in metro cities, state capitals, class I cities, and class II towns in India: An insight. *Waste Management*, 29(2):883–895, February 2009.
- [38] Martin Lambert. Biogas: A significant contribution to decarbonising gas markets? (available from: https://www.oxfordenergy.org/publications/biogassignificant-contribution-decarbonising-gas-markets/), June 2017.
- [39] J. W. Levis, M. A. Barlaz, N. J. Themelis, and P. Ulloa. Assessment of the state of food waste treatment in the United States and Canada. Waste Management (New York, N.Y.), 30(8-9):1486-1494, September 2010.
- [40] Hong Li, Roberta Mustacchi, Christopher J Knowles, Wolfgang Skibar, Garry Sunderland, Ian Dalrymple, and Simon A Jackman. An electrokinetic bioreactor: using direct electric current for enhanced lactic acid fermentation and product recovery. *Tetrahedron*, 60(3):655–661, January 2004.
- [41] Garrick E. Louis. A historical context of municipal solid waste management in the United States. Waste management & research: the journal of the International Solid Wastes and Public Cleansing Association, ISWA, 22(4):306-322, August 2004.
- [42] P. Lusk. Methane Recovery from Animal Manures: The Current Opportunities Casebook. National Renewable Energy Laboratory, 1998.
- [43] Liang-Chih Ma, Bernardo Castro-Dominguez, Nikolaos K. Kazantzis, and Yi Hua Ma. Integration of membrane technology into hydrogen production plants with CO2 capture: An economic performance assessment study. *International Journal* of Greenhouse Gas Control, 42:424–438, November 2015.
- [44] Maritza Macias-Corral, Zohrab Samani, Adrian Hanson, Geoffrey Smith, Paul Funk, Hui Yu, and John Longworth. Anaerobic digestion of municipal solid waste and agricultural waste and the effect of co-digestion with dairy cow manure. *Bioresource Technology*, 99(17):8288–8293, November 2008.
- [45] Jean-Charles Motte, Eric Trably, Renaud Escudie, Jerome Hamelin, Jean-Philippe Steyer, Nicolas Bernet, Jean-Philippe Delgenes, and Claire Dumas. Total solids content: a key parameter of metabolic pathways in dry anaerobic digestion. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 6:164, 2013.

- [46] Brian C. Murray, Christopher S. Galik, and Tibor Vegh. Biogas in the United States: estimating future production and learning from international experiences. *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, 22(3):485–501, March 2017.
- [47] OECD. Prices Inflation (CPI) OECD Data (available from: http://data.oecd.org/price/inflation-cpi.htm), 2017.
- [48] U.S. Department of Energy (U.S. DOE). Biogas Opportunities Roadmap | Department of Energy, 2014.
- [49] U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. Occupational Employment Statistics, May 2016.
- [50] U.S. Department of Labor (U.S. DOL). CPI Detailed Report Data for February 2017., 2017.
- [51] Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). Fourth Assessment Report - Climate Change 2007 - The Physical Science Basis, 2007.
- [52] Prabhakar Dattatray Pandit, Madhuri Kisanrao Gulhane, Anshuman A. Khardenavis, and Atul N. Vaidya. Technological Advances for Treating Municipal Waste. In Vipin Chandra Kalia, editor, *Microbial Factories*, pages 217–229. Springer India, 2015. DOI: 10.1007/978-81-322-2598-0_13.
- [53] Maria Papagianni. Metabolic engineering of lactic acid bacteria for the production of industrially important compounds. *Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal*, 3, October 2012.
- [54] Max Peters, Klaus Timmerhaus, Ronald West, and Max Peters. *Plant Design and Economics for Chemical Engineers*. McGraw-Hill Education, New York, 5 edition edition, December 2002.
- [55] M. Renkow and A. R. Rubin. Does municipal solid waste composting make economic sense? *Journal of Environmental Management*, 53(4):339–347, August 1998.
- [56] Transparency Market Research. Lactic Acid and Polylactic Acid Market- Global Industry Analysis 2015-2023, July 2015.
- [57] Sam L. Savage. *Decision Making with Insight*. Cengage Learning, Belmont, CA, 2 edition edition, January 2003.
- [58] Sam L. Savage and Harry M. Markowitz. The Flaw of Averages: Why We Underestimate Risk in the Face of Uncertainty. Wiley, 1 edition edition, March 2012.
- [59] Warren D. Seider, J. D. Seader, Daniel R. Lewin, and Soemantri Widagdo. Product and Process Design Principles: Synthesis, Analysis and Design. John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, NJ, 3 edition edition, December 2008.

- [60] Mufeed Sharholy, Kafeel Ahmad, Gauhar Mahmood, and R. C. Trivedi. Municipal solid waste management in Indian cities âĂŞ A review. Waste Management, 28(2):459–467, January 2008.
- [61] D. P. Singh, Richa Kothari, and V. V. Tyagi. Emerging Energy Alternatives for Sustainable Environment. The Energy and Resources Institute (TERI), June 2016.
- [62] Vaibhav Srivastava, Sultan Ahmed Ismail, Pooja Singh, and Rajeev Pratap Singh. Urban solid waste management in the developing world with emphasis on India: challenges and opportunities. *Reviews in Environmental Science* and Bio/Technology, 14(2):317-337, June 2015.
- [63] Gregory Stephanopoulos, Devin Hedley Currie, Kristen Jean Fortnam, and Massachusetts Institute Of Technology. *Methods for conversion of food waste to chemical products.* April 2016.
- [64] Chien-Yuan Su, Cheng-Ching Yu, I-Lung Chien, and Jeffrey D. Ward. Plant-Wide Economic Comparison of Lactic Acid Recovery Processes by Reactive Distillation with Different Alcohols. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, 52(32):11070–11083, August 2013.
- [65] Cristian A. Varela, Mauricio E. Baez, and Eduardo Agosin. Osmotic Stress Response: Quantification of Cell Maintenance and Metabolic Fluxes in a Lysine-Overproducing Strain of Corynebacterium glutamicum. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 70(7):4222-4229, July 2004.
- [66] Sintana E. Vergara and George Tchobanoglous. Municipal Solid Waste and the Environment: A Global Perspective. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 37(1):277–309, 2012.
- [67] Kailas L. Wasewar, Vishwas G. Pangarkar, A. Bert M. Heesink, and Geert F. Versteeg. Intensification of enzymatic conversion of glucose to lactic acid by reactive extraction. *Chemical Engineering Science*, 58(15):3385–3393, August 2003.
- [68] Jong-Sun Yun, Young-Jung Wee, and Hwa-Won Ryu. Production of optically pure l(+)-lactic acid from various carbohydrates by batch fermentation of Enterococcus faecalis RKY1. Enzyme and Microbial Technology, 33(4):416–423, September 2003.
- [69] A. U. Zaman. Comparative study of municipal solid waste treatment technologies using life cycle assessment method. International Journal of Environmental Science & Technology, 7(2):225-234, March 2010.